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DECISION

There is cause to discipline Pamela Anne Dade because she:  unlawfully possessed a controlled substance without a valid prescription; violated Missouri and federal drug laws; engaged in misconduct, fraud, misrepresentation, and dishonesty in the performance of her professional functions and duties; and violated the professional trust of her patients and her employer.
Procedure


On November 14, 2007, the State Board of Nursing (“the Board”) filed a complaint against Dade.  We served Dade with our notice of complaint/notice of hearing and a copy of the complaint by certified mail on November 21, 2007.  Dade did not respond to the complaint.  The Board filed a motion for summary determination on June 4, 2008.  We gave Dade until June 19, 2008, to respond, but she did not respond.  

The motion requests that we decide, without holding a hearing, that there is cause to discipline Dade.  We may grant the motion if the Board establishes facts that entitle it to a favorable decision on all or any part of the Board’s complaint and Dade does not raise a genuine issue as to such facts.
  The Board seeks to establish the facts set forth in its complaint by its request for admissions, which it served on Dade on April 18, 2008.  The Board asserts that Dade failed to respond to the request for admissions.  Dade’s failure to answer the request for admissions establishes the matters asserted in the request, and no further proof is required.
  That rule applies to all parties, including those acting without an attorney.
  Based on Dade’s deemed admissions (“admissions”), we find the following facts undisputed.
Findings of Fact


1.
The Board licensed Dade as a licensed practical nurse (“LPN”).  Dade’s license was current and active between September 1, 2004, and December 22, 2004.  

2.
Between September 1, 2004, and November 16, 2004, Maple Lawn Nursing Home (“Maple Lawn”) in Palmyra, Missouri, employed Dade as an LPN.

3.
On November 16, 2004, Dade was working her shift at Maple Lawn.  Dade took for her personal use three patient medication cards that contained the compound hydrocodone and acetaminophen (generic for Vicodin).  The medication cards were labeled with the patients’ names and were found in Dade’s personal bag in the Maple Lawn medication room that day.

4.
Between September 1, 2004, and November 16, 2004, Dade diverted at least 1,530 Vicodin tablets from Maple Lawn for her personal use.  Dade acquired the Vicodin tablets by submitting several refill orders for patients who had refills available but did not need them.

5.
Vicodin is a Schedule III controlled substance.


6.
Between August 1, 2004 and December 1, 2004, Dade did not possess a valid prescription or order for Vicodin.  

7.
On November 16, 2004, Dade's employment with Maple Lawn was terminated.

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction of the complaint.
  The Board has the burden to prove facts for which the law allows discipline.
  

I.  Use or Unlawful Possession of a Controlled Substance and
Violation of Drug Laws


The Board cites § 335.066.2(1) and (14), which allow discipline for:

(1) Use or unlawful possession of any controlled substance, as defined in chapter 195, RSMo, or alcoholic beverage to an extent that such use impairs a person’s ability to perform the work of any profession licensed or regulated by sections 335.011 to 335.096;

*   *   *

(14) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.]
A.  Use

The Board alleges in its complaint that on or about December 22, 2004, Dade admitted to using Vicodin, for which she did not have a valid prescription, while on duty.  However, the Board did not request an admission of this fact.  Because the Board uses only Dade’s admissions to establish its facts, we find nothing to establish that Dade used Vicodin while on duty.
B.  Possession

Dade admits, and we find, that she possessed Vicodin, a Schedule III controlled substance, without a prescription or order.  


Section 195.180.1 provides:

1.  A person may lawfully possess or have under his control a controlled substance if such person obtained the controlled substance directly from, or pursuant to, a valid prescription or order of a practitioner while acting in the course of a practitioner’s professional practice or except as otherwise authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425.
Because Dade did not have a valid prescription for Vicodin, she violated § 195.202, which provides:
1.  Except as authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425, it is unlawful for any person to possess or have under his control a controlled substance.
2.  Any person who violates this section with respect to any controlled substance except thirty-five grams or less of marijuana is guilty of a class C felony.
Therefore, we find cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(1).

C.  Drug Laws

By violating § 195.202, Dade violated the drug laws of the state of Missouri.  Dade also violated federal drug law.
  21 USC § 844 provides:

(a) Unlawful acts; penalties
It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally to possess a controlled substance unless such substance was obtained directly, or pursuant to a valid prescription or order, from a practitioner, while acting in the course of his professional practice . . . .  Any person who violates this subsection may be sentenced to a 
term of imprisonment of not more than 1 year, and shall be fined a minimum of $1,000, or both[.]
There is cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(14).  

II.  Misconduct, Gross Negligence, Fraud, Misrepresentation or 
Dishonesty in the Performance of the Functions or Duties of an LPN

Section 335.066.2(5) authorizes discipline for:

 misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by sections 335.011 to 335.096[.]

Misconduct is the willful doing of a wrongful act.
  Gross negligence is a deviation from the standard of care so egregious as to demonstrate a conscious indifference to a professional duty.  We may infer the requisite mental state from the conduct of the licensee “in light of all surrounding circumstances.”


Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another to act in reliance upon it.
  It requires the intent that others rely on the misrepresentation.
  A misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent of deceit rather than inadvertent mistake.
  To “deceive” is “to cause to accept as true or valid what is false or invalid.”
  We may infer fraudulent intent from the circumstances of the case.


Dishonesty is a lack of integrity, a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  Dishonesty includes actions that reflect adversely on trustworthiness.
  


The functions and duties of an LPN are set forth in § 335.016,
 as follows:

(7) "Licensed practical nurse" or "practical nurse", a person licensed pursuant to the provisions of this chapter to engage in the practice of practical nursing;
*   *   *
(9) "Practical nursing", the performance for compensation of selected acts for the promotion of health and in the care of persons who are ill, injured, or experiencing alterations in normal health processes.  Such performance requires substantial specialized skill, judgment and knowledge.  All such nursing care shall be given under the direction of a person licensed by a state regulatory board to prescribe medications and treatments or under the direction of a registered professional nurse.  For the purposes of this chapter, the term "direction" shall mean guidance or supervision provided by a person licensed by a state regulatory board to prescribe medications and treatments or a registered professional nurse, including, but not limited to, oral, written, or otherwise communicated orders or directives for patient care.  When practical nursing care is delivered pursuant to the direction of a person licensed by a state regulatory board to prescribe medications and treatments or under the direction of a registered professional nurse, such care may be delivered by a licensed practical nurse without direct physical oversight[.]
Dade admits that she had no valid prescription for the 1,530 Vicodin tablets that she admits diverting from Maple Lawn.  She admits accomplishing this diversion by submitting refill orders for patients who did not need them.  Dade’s submission of the refill orders constituted fraud and misrepresentation because their submission necessarily implied that the patients needed the refills and that the refills were for the use of the patients.  

The admitted facts establish that Dade committed misconduct, fraud, misrepresentation and dishonesty in the performance of her functions and duties as an LPN, which is cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(5).


Dade’s conduct did not constitute gross negligence because the required mental state, “conscious indifference,” is incompatible with “willfulness” that the Board established to show misconduct.  Dade is not subject to discipline for gross negligence.
III.  Professional Trust or Confidence

Section 335.066.2(12) authorizes discipline for a “[v]iolation of any professional trust or confidence[.]”  Professional trust is the reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.
  It may exist not only between the professional and her clients, but also between the professional and her employer and colleagues.


Dade admits that Maple Lawn hired her as an LPN and that she had formed a relationship of professional trust and confidence with Maple Lawn and its residents.  Dade admits that she diverted Vicodin by submitting refill orders made out in the patients’ names which those patients did not need.  Although there is no admission that Dade deprived any resident of the Vicodin, her actions put those patients at risk of being deprived of Vicodin in the future because their refill orders had already been used.  Dade’s conduct is also a violation of her employer’s trust that she obtain controlled substances from Maple Lawn’s inventory only for the patients’ use and not for her personal use.  There is cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(12).
Summary


There is cause to discipline Dade under § 335.066.2(1), (5), (12) and (14).  We cancel the hearing.

SO ORDERED on July 10, 2008.



________________________________



JOHN J. KOPP       


Commissioner

	�1 CSR 15-3.440(3)(B)3.A.


	�Supreme Court Rule 59.01, as applied to our proceedings by § 536.073.2 and 1 CSR 15-3.420(1); Killian Constr. Co. v. Tri-City Constr. Co., 693 S.W.2d 819, 827 (Mo. App., W.D. 1985); and Briggs v. King, 714 S.W.2d 694, 697 (Mo. App., W.D. 1986).  Statutory references are to RSMo 2000, unless otherwise noted.


	�Research Hosp. v. Williams, 651 S.W.2d 667, 669 (Mo. App., W.D. 1983).  


	�Section 195.017.6(4)(d).  Because of the dates of Dade’s conduct, the applicable version of § 195.017 is found in RSMo Supp. 2001.  However, intervening amendments have not changed § 195.017.6(4)(d) since then.  Compare § 195.017.6(4)(d) in RSMo Supp. 2007.


	�Section 621.045, RSMo Supp. 2007.  


	�Missouri Real Estate Comm'n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).


	�By not responding to the Board’s request for admissions, Dade expressly admitted that her diversion of 1,530 Vicodin tables violated § 195.202.1.  Although there was no requested admission for violating 21 USC § 844, the facts that Dade admitted to support our conclusion that she also violated federal law.  


	�Grace v. Missouri Gaming Comm’n, 51 S.W.3d 891, 900-01 (Mo. App., W.D. 2001).


	�Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Arch'ts, Prof'l Eng'rs & Land Surv'rs, 744 S.W.2d 524, 533 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  


	�Hernandez v. State Bd. of Regis’n for Healing Arts, 936 S.W.2d 894, 899 n.2 (Mo. App., W.D. 1997).  


	�Sofka v.Thal, 662 S.W.2d 502, 506 (Mo. banc 1983); see also Missouri Dental Bd. v. Bailey, 731 S.W.2d 272, 274-275 (Mo. App., W.D. 1987).


	�Hernandez, 936 S.W.2d at 899 n.3.  


	�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 321 (11th ed. 2004).


	�Essex v. Getty Oil Co., 661 S.W.2d 544, 551 ((Mo. App., W.D. 1983).


	�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 359 (11th ed. 2004).   


	�See In re Duncan, 844 S.W.2d 443, 444 (Mo. banc 1992).


	�RSMo Supp. 2002.  The amendments to § 335.016 in 2004 became effective on August 31, 2004.  L. 2004, SB No. 1122, § B.  The amendments did not change substantive portions of the definitions cited in our text.  Id. at § A.  The amendments in 2007 changed the numbering of the subdivisions in which the definitions appear, but did not change substantive portions of the definitions cited in our text. L.2007, HB No. 780, § A and SB No. 308, 


§ A.  


	�Trieseler v. Helmbacher, 168 S.W.2d 1030, 1036 (Mo. 1943).  


	�Cooper v. Missouri Bd. of Pharmacy, 774 S.W.2d 501, 504 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).





PAGE  
7

